

LOAN



a series and the second se

Measurement of thermal cyclic movements on two portal frame bridges on the M1

by P Darley and G H Alderman



**TRL Report 165** 

The Transport Research Laboratory is the largest and most comprehensive centre for the study of road transport in the United Kingdom. For more than 60 years it has provided information that has helped frame transport policy, set standards and save lives.

TRL provides research-based technical help which enables its Government Customers to set standards for highway and vehicle design, formulate policies on road safety, transport and the environment, and encourage good traffic engineering practice.

As a national research laboratory TRL has developed close working links with many other international transport centres.

It also sells its services to other customers in the UK and overseas, providing fundamental and applied research, working as a contractor, consultant or providing facilities and staff. TRL's customers include local and regional authorities, major civil engineering contractors, transport consultants, industry, foreign governments and international aid agencies.

TRL employs around 300 technical specialists - among them mathematicians, physicists, psychologists, engineers, geologists, computer experts, statisticians - most of whom are based at Crowthorne, Berkshire. Facilities include a state of the art driving simulator, a new indoor impact test facility, a 3.8km test track, a separate self-contained road network, a structures hall, an indoor facility that can dynamically test roads and advanced computer programs which are used to develop sophisticated traffic control systems.

TRL also has a facility in Scotland, based in Livingston, near Edinburgh, that looks after the special needs of road transport in Scotland.

The laboratory's primary objective is to carry out commissioned research, investigations, studies and tests to the highest levels of quality, reliability and impartiality. TRL carries out its work in such a way as to ensure that customers receive results that not only meet the project specification or requirement but are also geared to rapid and effective implementation. In doing this, TRL recognises the need of the customer to be able to generate maximum value from the investment it has placed with the laboratory.

TRL covers all major aspects of road transport, and is able to offer a wide range of expertise ranging from detailed specialist analysis to complex multi-disciplinary programmes and from basic research to advanced consultancy.

TRL with its breadth of expertise and facilities can provide customers with a research and consultancy capability matched to the complex problems arising across the whole transport field. Areas such as safety, congestion, environment and the infrastructure require a multi-disciplinary approach and TRL is ideally structured to deliver effective solutions.

TRL prides itself on its record for delivering projects that meet customers' quality, delivery and cost targets. The laboratory has, however, instigated a programme of continuous improvement and continually reviews customers satisfaction to ensure that its performance stays in line with the increasing expectations of its customers.

Quality control systems have been introduced across all major areas of TRL activity and TRL is working towards full compliance with BS EN 9001:1994.



### **TRL REPORT 165**

### MEASUREMENT OF THERMAL CYCLIC MOVEMENTS ON TWO PORTAL FRAME BRIDGES ON THE M1

by P Darley and G H Alderman

This report describes work commissioned by the Bridges Engineering Division of the Highways Agency under E465A/BG, Assessment of Integral Bridge Abutments.

Crown Copyright 1995. The contents of this report are the responsibility of the authors and the Chief Executive of TRL. They do not necessarily represent the views or policies of the Department of Transport.

Transport Research Laboratory Old Wokingham Road Crowthorne, Berkshire, RG45 6AU

1995 ISSN 0968-4107 Highway Agency St Christopher House Southwark Street, London SE1 0TE

# CONTENTS

			Page		
Executive Summary					
Abstract					
1.	Introduction				
2.	Location and description of structures				
3.	Inst	rumentation	3		
	3.1	Monitoring of length changes	3		
	3.2	Monitoring of level changes	4		
	3.3	Monitoring of temperature changes	4		
4.	Mea	surements	5		
	4.1	Changes in length of bridge deck	5		
	4.2	Changes in level of bridge deck	6		
5.	Discussion				
6.	Conclusions				
7.	Acknowledgements				
8.	References				

,

.

### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Rigid frame bridges, where the abutments are structurally connected to a continuous deck to form an integral structure, have the advantage of reduced maintenance costs because of the absence of bridge bearings. However seasonal thermal movements of the bridge deck make it difficult to predict the magnitude and distribution of earth pressures acting on the abutments and movements within the backfill. These lead to uncertainties in the design of integral bridges. In order to confirm that longitudinal thermal movements of the deck were being transmitted to the abutments, two existing portal frame bridges spanning the M1 were instrumented and monitored over periods of up to 14 months. These bridges were constructed more than 30 years ago and have performed satisfactorily in service.

Both portal frame structures were instrumented to measure changes in length and level of the bridge deck and the temperature variations in the deck giving rise to the changes. Length measurements were made using a high precision electronic distance measuring system (Geomensor) and level measurements using precise levelling employing an invar staff and parallel plate micrometer. A reasonable estimate of temperature was obtained from two profiles of thermocouples installed at depths ranging from 25 to 500mm below the top surface of the concrete deck of each bridge.

Both bridge decks behaved in a reasonably predictable manner with an increase in length with temperature which correlated well with the coefficient of thermal expansion of 12 x 10<sup>-6</sup> per °C commonly assumed for reinforced concrete. Measurements of bridge movement were taken when deck temperatures were between -1°C and +19°C. However the lower and upper limits of effective bridge temperatures in the Northampton area are expected to be outside this range over a 120 year period with overall changes of the order of 40°C. On this basis, a lateral movement of ±6.5mm is predicted at the top of each abutment. This is likely to be of sufficient amplitude to mobilise passive earth pressures in the granular backfill behind the abutments. More detailed studies measuring earth pressures developed behind the abutments of integral bridges will be needed to provide a comprehensive picture.

# MEASUREMENT OF THERMAL CYCLIC MOVEMENTS ON TWO PORTAL FRAME BRIDGES ON THE M1

### ABSTRACT

Rigid frame bridges, where the abutments are structurally connected to a continuous deck to form an integral structure, have the advantage of reduced maintenance costs because of the absence of bridge bearings. However seasonal expansion and contraction of the bridge deck causes cyclic movements of the abutments which lead to variations in the earth pressures acting on the abutment walls in service. In turn, these lead to considerable uncertainties in design. In this study the behaviour of two existing portal frame bridges spanning the M1 was studied over periods of up to 14 months. These bridges were instrumented to monitor the longitudinal thermal movements of the deck and the associated change in vertical level at various points along the deck.

### 1. INTRODUCTION

A major element of the repair and maintenance costs of conventional road bridges is caused by damage to the bearings from road deicing salts penetrating the deck joints (Wallbank, 1989). Integral bridges where the abutments and deck form a continuous unit with no bearings should therefore have much reduced maintenance costs. Integral bridges have been widely used in Europe and North America and are now being introduced into the UK. Their performance has been reviewed by Burke (1989) and more recently by Card and Carder (1993).

Seasonal thermal movements of the bridge deck make it difficult to predict the magnitude and distribution of earth pressures acting on the abutments and movements within the backfill. These lead to uncertainties in the design of integral bridges. In order to confirm that longitudinal thermal movements of the deck were being transmitted to the abutments, two existing portal frame bridges spanning the M1 were instrumented and monitored over periods of up to 14 months. These bridges were constructed more than 30 years ago and have performed satisfactorily. Measurements of change in length and vertical level were made at various points along the bridge deck using a high precision electronic distance measuring system and a precise level respectively. These movements were correlated to reasonable estimates of deck temperature derived from two arrays of thermocouples installed in the deck of each bridge.

The monitoring of these bridges forms part of a wider programme of research into the performance of integral bridges being undertaken on behalf of the Department of Transport. In addition to this study, more detailed studies are underway at other trial sites where measurements of the earth pressures acting on both shallow and full height integral abutments are being related to thermal movements of the abutment and deck.

## 2. LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION OF STRUCTURES

Bridge 1, DOT number M1/123.20, was designed by Sir Owen Williams and Partners and built in 1959. The bridge carries the Kilsby to Watford road over the M1 in Northamptonshire. Bridge 1 is a portal frame structure comprising reinforced concrete abutments 1.828m thick and a solid reinforced concrete deck 838mm thick and 9.75m wide. The abutments are cantilevers on spread footings which are founded on rock. A cross-section of the bridge is shown in Fig 1a. The bridge is approximately 56.7m long with a central pier at mid span. The available distance between the measurement points 3G and 1G is 49m (Fig 1a). The bridge was instrumented by TRL during October 1993.

Bridge 2, DOT number M1/121.40/1, is a similar portal frame structure with a central pier, a deck slab thickness of 762mm and width of 12.4m. The length of the bridge is 48m, with a distance of 41m between measurement points 3G and 1G as shown in Fig 1b. The bridge was built to a similar design as Bridge 1 except that the abutments are founded on stiff clay rather than rock. It is located some 2 miles south of Bridge 1 and carries the Welton to Watford road over the M1. The bridge was instrumented during February 1994.

### 3. INSTRUMENTATION

Both portal frame structures were instrumented to measure changes in the length and level of the bridge deck and the temperature variations in the deck giving rise to the changes. The positions of the instruments for both bridges are summarised in Fig 1 and Table 1.

#### 3.1 MONITORING OF LENGTH CHANGES

To measure changes in length of the deck, stainless steel sockets to accept a target reflector for the high precision electronic distance measuring system (Geomensor) were fixed with epoxy concrete into holes drilled in the top



Fig.1 Instrument layout

surface of the concrete deck and the deck waterproofing reinstated. Sockets were installed at each end and in the centre of each bridge deck (Fig 1). At each bridge a fixed datum pillar with a tribach mounting for the Geomensor equipment was installed on the line of the bridge. At Bridge 1 the pillar was at a distance of 34m from the eastern end of the bridge and at Bridge 2 some 170 metres from the western end of the bridge. The precision of the Geomensor is such that it is capable of measuring changes in deck length to better than  $\pm 0.5$ mm over these ranges.

#### 3.2 MONITORING OF LEVEL CHANGES

In order to measure any changes in level of the decks, levelling points were installed along the length of the decks at locations shown in Fig 1 and Table 1. The levelling points comprised the stainless steel sockets used for the Geomensor target reflector supplemented by stainless steel road nails installed in the blacktop of the footways. At locations T1 and T2 shown in Fig 1, stainless steel nails were fixed into the concrete deck. The levels of these points were determined relative to remote temporary benchmarks using precise levelling techniques employing an invar staff and parallel plate micrometer. The precision of these measurements was considered to be better than  $\pm 0.25$  mm.

#### 3.3 MONITORING OF TEMPERATURE CHANGES

A reasonable estimate of the temperature of the deck was made using two thermocouple profiles, one of 6 and one of 4 "T type" thermocouples. These were installed at the locations T1 and T2 on each structure (Fig 1), at depths ranging from 25 to 500mm below the top surface of the concrete deck (Table 1). Care was taken when backfilling around the thermocouples to eliminate any air pockets around the thermocouple tips as such pockets can lead to erroneous temperature readings (Mortlock, 1974). A considerable amount of research into the measurement of temperature and movement in bridge decks has been carried out (Emerson 1968, 1973 and 1976a) but this research was carried out on bridges fitted with bearings and expansion joints. A method of calculating effective deck temperature is given by Emerson (1976b) but in the current limited study the mean of the ten thermocouples was considered to be sufficiently accurate.

Bridge 1 Position	Type * C/B	Distance from 3G (m)	Bridge 2 Position	Type * C/B	Distance from 3G (m)
3G	С	0	3G	С	0
10L/T2	С	6	8L	В	1.45
9L/T1	С	12	7L	В	4.45
8L	В	18	T2	С	5.55
2G	С	24.3	6L	В	7.45
7L	В	27	5L	В	10.45
6L	В	30	T1	С	10.5
5L	В	33	4L	В	13.45
4L	· B	36	3L	В	15.5
3L	В	39	2L	В	16.45
2L	В	42	1L	В	19.45
1L	В	45	2G	С	20.5
1G	С	48.82	14L	В	25
			13L	В	28
			12L	В	31
			11L	В	34
			10L	В	37
			9L	В	40
			1G	С	41
Bridge	Аггау	Depths below top surface of concrete deck (mm)			
1	T1		25, 50, 100, 150, 300, 340		
1	T2		50, 100, 150, 200		
2	T1	25, 50, 100, 150, 300, 500			
2	T2	50, 100, 150, 200			

TABLE 1

Locations of instrumentation

\* Type C set in concrete deck, type B set in blacktop. G is a Geomensor measuring station and levelling point, T is a thermocouple array, L is a levelling point.

#### 4. MEASUREMENTS

#### 4.1 CHANGES IN LENGTH OF BRIDGE DECK

Figs 2a and 2b show the changes in length of Bridge 1 and Bridge 2 respectively together with the average temperatures measured by the thermocouples in the deck. The measurements indicate that the deck length changed in a broadly predictable manner with changes in temperature for both bridges, an increase in temperature giving rise to an increase in the length of the deck.

In Fig 3 the actual change in length of each bridge is plotted against the mean temperature recorded by the thermocouples. An overall temperature range from  $-1^{\circ}$ C to  $+19^{\circ}$ C. was recorded during the monitoring periods of 14 months at Bridge 1 and 12 months at Bridge 2. The best fit line



Fig 2. Change in deck length and temperature with time



Fig 3. Change in length with temperature

through the results is compared in Fig 3 with the change in length calculated using a coefficient of expansion of 12 x 10<sup>-6</sup> per °C as specified for steel and gravel aggregate concrete in BD37 (DMRB 1.3). On this basis the best fit line for Bridge 1 has a slope of 0.546mm/°C which on dividing by its span is equivalent to a coefficient of thermal expansion of 11.3 x 10<sup>-6</sup> per °C. Similarly for Bridge 2 the slope is 0.564mm/°C with an equivalent expansion coefficient of 13.7 x  $10^{-6}$  per °C. It must be noted that the average deck temperature was calculated from the results of ten thermocouples at each bridge and as such only represents a simple estimate of the true effective deck temperature. The largest variation of temperature within a single set of measurements from ten thermocouples on a bridge was at Bridge 2 and was from +3.0°C to +6.4°C with an average temperature of 4.8°C. More typically, the range for a set of ten thermocouples was ±1°C.

#### 4.2 CHANGES IN LEVEL OF BRIDGE DECK

Fig 4a shows profiles of level changes measured along the deck of Bridge 1 at different mean deck temperatures. These changes are calculated from datum levels which were taken when the deck temperature was 8°C. The data



Fig 4. Change in level of bridge deck

indicate that changes in level of the deck of between +2.5mm and -3.5mm occurred during the period of measurement. Similar data for Bridge 2 are given in Fig 4b.

When the average change in level for the 13 points on Bridge 1 and the 19 points on Bridge 2 are plotted against the average temperature of the deck (Fig 5), the data show small increases in deck level with temperature of 0.21mm/°C and 0.15mm/°C for Bridge 1 and 2 respectively. Table 2 shows the slope and regression coefficients for the average change in level of all the levelling points and for those 5 points on each bridge (1G, 2G, 3G, T1 and T2) that were fixed directly into the concrete deck.

The results in this Table indicate that the levelling points set in concrete experienced smaller movements than those set in blacktop. This is probably due to the fact that points 1G, 2G and 3G on each bridge would experience greater vertical restraint than the other levelling points. This effect is quite marked for Bridge 1 in Fig 4a, where the maximum changes are at the quarter points. However the effect is not apparent in Fig 4b. Systematic differences between the levelling points set in concrete and those in blacktop are considered unlikely and there is not evidence to suggest such an effect in Fig 4. In addition it can be seen that the change in level with temperature for Bridge 1 is larger than that for Bridge 2. This implies that the lateral restraint at



Fig 5. Change in mean level of deck with temperature

each end of the deck due to the abutments and backfill is greater for Bridge 1 than for Bridge 2.

### 5. DISCUSSION

Both portal frame structures being investigated were designed with relatively massive abutments (1.828m thick) and a central pier. For this reason it was by no means certain whether thermal movements of the bridge deck would be accommodated by lateral movement of the top of the abutments, by hogging/sagging of the deck itself, or by a combination of the two. The measurements of lateral and vertical thermal movements of the bridge deck indicated that lateral movements were close to those calculated from the appropriate coefficient of thermal expansion and that vertical movements were generally small.

Different foundation conditions existed for the abutments of the two bridges. At Bridge 1 the abutments are founded on rock and the M1 is in cutting so that the abutment backfill forms a wedge against the undisturbed ground. The abutments at Bridge 2 are founded on clay with the motorway at original ground level and approach embankments to the abutments. For these reasons it was considered that the lateral restraint of the abutments at Bridge 1 is slightly better than at Bridge 2: this is borne out by the marginally lower value of 0.546mm/°C as opposed to 0.564mm/°C for change in deck length and the marginally higher value of 0.21mm/°C as against 0.15mm/°C for average change in deck level for Bridges 1 and 2 respectively. The greater lateral restraint for Bridge 1 would appear to be consistent with the larger changes in deck levels. Thus, the quarter points on Bridge 1 show hogging as the temperature increases, with the hogging diminishing as the temperature decreases. The data in Fig 4b suggest that the deck moves up and down as a monolith for Bridge 2, indicating that the lateral restraint was insufficient to induce hogging as the temperature increased.

Measurements of bridge movement were taken when deck temperatures were between -1°C and +19°C. The lower and upper limits of effective bridge temperatures in the Northampton area are expected to be outside this range over a 120 year return period: values given in BD37/88 (DMRB 1.3) indicate that the temperature difference between the lower and upper limits is likely to be of the order of 40°C. On the basis of a 40°C variation, changes in overall length of about 26mm are calculated for both Bridge 1 and 2. This is equivalent to a lateral movement of ±6.5mm at the top of each abutment. Given that the mean abutment height (H) is 8.5m, the shear strain in the backfill can be calculated as  $1.5 \times 10^{-3}$  from 28/H where  $\delta$  is the lateral deformation at the top of the wall. Card and Carder (1993) report that according to the work of Ishihara (1982) on transient effects, this would be a sufficient amplitude of movement to mobilise passive earth pressures behind the abutments. England and Dunstan (1994) support the need to consider cyclic loading effects: they demonstrate that cyclic loading from daily and seasonal changes of temperature can cause 'strain ratcheting'

#### TABLE 2

#### Comparison of levelling data

	All levelling points		Levelling points set in concrete	
Structure	Slope of best fit line	Regression coefficient (r)	Slope of best fit line	Regression coefficient (r)
Bridge 1 Bridge 2	0.210 0.147	0.85 0.88	0.201 0.116	0.86 0.76

within granular material, thus leading to an escalation in the lateral stresses acting on an integral bridge abutment. The abutments on the M1 bridges under investigation are relatively massive (1.828m thick) to resist any increased earth pressures and the bridges have performed satisfactorily for more than 30 years.

### 6. CONCLUSIONS

The performance of two existing portal frame bridges spanning the M1 was studied over periods of up to 14 months. The bridges were instrumented to monitor the longitudinal thermal movements of the deck and the associated change in vertical level at various points along the deck. The following conclusions were reached.

1. Both bridge decks behaved in a reasonably predictable manner with an increase in length with temperature which correlated well with the coefficient of thermal expansion of  $12 \times 10^{-6}$  per °C commonly assumed for reinforced concrete.

2. Only small changes in level of the decks were measured with temperature and these were consistent in so far as hogging occurred with increased temperatures. Both the levelling and longitudinal movement data indicated that the lateral restraint of the abutments of Bridge 1 was marginally higher than at Bridge 2. This is consistent as Bridge 1 spans the M1 in cutting and has abutments founded on rock, whilst Bridge 2 has abutments founded on clay and approach embankments.

3. The range between the lower and upper limits of effective bridge temperatures in the Northampton area is expected to be of the order of 40°C over a 120 year return period (BD37/88, DMRB 1.3). On this basis, a lateral movement of  $\pm 6.5$ mm is predicted at the top of each abutment. This is likely to be of sufficient amplitude to mobilise passive earth pressures in the granular backfill behind the abutments. More detailed studies measuring earth pressures developed behind the abutments of integral bridges will be needed to provide a comprehensive picture.

### 7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work described in this report forms part of the research programme of the Civil Engineering Resource Centre of TRL and was funded by the Bridges Engineering Division of the Highways Agency (DOT). In addition to the authors, the research team consisted of Dr D R Carder, Mr M D Ryley and Mr A Brookes.

Thanks are due to Mr M J Kendrick, Director of Planning and Transportation, Northamptonshire County Council for permission to carry out this study. The assistance of Mr G C Paul of Northamptonshire County Council is gratefully acknowledged.

### 8. REFERENCES

BLACK W, DS MOSS and M EMERSON (1976). Bridge temperatures derived from measurement of movement. *TRRL Laboratory Report LR748*. Crowthorne: Transport and Road Research Laboratory.

BURKE MP (1989). Bridge deck joints. National Cooperative Highway Research Programme: Synthesis of Highway Practice 141. Transportation Research Board, Washington DC.

CARD GB and DR CARDER (1993). A literature review of the geotechnical aspects of the design of integral bridge abutments. *TRL Project Report PR52*. Crowthorne: Transport Research Laboratory.

DESIGN MANUAL FOR ROADS AND BRIDGES. HMSO, London.

BD37/88 Loads for Highway Bridges (DMRB 1.3).

EMERSON M (1968). Bridge temperatures and movements in the British Isles. *RRL Laboratory Report LR228*. Crowthorne: Road Research Laboratory.

EMERSON M (1973). The calculation of the distribution of temperature in bridges. *TRRL Laboratory Report LR561*. Crowthorne: Transport and Road Research Laboratory.

EMERSON M (1976a). Bridge temperatures estimated from the shade temperature. *TRRL Laboratory Report LR696*. Crowthorne: Transport and Road Research Laboratory.

EMERSON M (1976b). Extreme values of bridge temperatures for design purposes. *TRRL Laboratory Report LR744*. Crowthorne: Transport and Road Research Laboratory.

ENGLAND GL and T DUNSTAN (1994). Shakedown solutions for soil containing structures as influenced by cyclic temperatures - Integral bridge and biological filter. *3rd Int Conf on Structural Engineering, Singapore.* 

ISHIHARA K (1982). Evaluation of soil properties for use in earthquake response analysis. Int Symp Numerical Models in Geomechanics, Zurich, 237-259.

MORTLOCK JD (1974). The instrumentation of bridges for the measurement of temperature and movement. *TRRL Laboratory Report LR641*. Crowthorne: Transport and Road Research Laboratory.

WALLBANK EJ (1989). The performance of concrete in bridges - a survey of 200 highway bridges. London, HMSO.

# **MORE INFORMATION FROM TRL**

TRL has published the following other reports on this area of research:

- PR52 A literature review of the geotechnical aspects of the design of integral bridge abutments. G B Card and D R Carder. Price Code J
- LR744 Extreme values of bridge temperatures for design purposes. M Emerson. Price £10

If you would like copies, photocopy and fill in the slip below. There is a 20% discount if you take all the reports listed above. Prices include postage and are correct at the time of publication. Please see the enclosed letter for current price code values and handling charge. Enquiries to TRL Library Services, Tel: 01344 770784, Fax: 01344 770193.

To: Publication Sales, TRL Library, PO Box 304, CROWTHORNE, Berkshire, RG45 6YU. Please send me the following TRL reports (state report Nos and quantity)

Report noQuantity	Report no Quantity
Report noQuantity	Report no Quantity
Report noQuantity	Report no Quantity
Name	PAYMENT:
Address	• I enclose a cheque for £
	payable to Transport Research Laboratory
	• Please debit my Deposit Account
Postcode	no
Telephone	• Please debit my Credit Card by £
	• Credit card no
Credit card address (if different from above)	Expiry date
	Signature

**USE OUR EXPERTISE** 



TRL's researchers and Laboratory facilities are available at competitive rates.

Our 250 scientists and engineers include many world-class experts on highways design and maintenance, transport structures, traffic systems, vehicle safety, road safety and the environment.

TRL facilities include a 3.8 km test track, a fully interactive driving simulator, an all weather facility for impact testing of vehicles, large structures test halls for static and fatigue testing, dynamic pavement test facility, dynamic and low cost impact test rigs, a pedestrian impact test facility, as well as advanced computer systems and a large specialist library with online access to worldwide information.

If you are planning a project where we may be able to help, contact TRL Business Directorate at Crowthorne, Berkshire RG45 6AU, telephone 01344 770004, fax 01344 770356.